FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/22/2023 2:02 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102414-2</u>

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 56142-5-II

\_\_\_\_\_

DIVISION II OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAUL ADGAR,

*Plaintiff/Appellant*,

v.

MARTIN A. DINSMORE and "JANE DOE" DINSMORE, husband and wife, and their marital community composed thereof,

Defendants,

and LAKEWOOD WATER DISTRICT,

Defendant/Respondent.

#### **RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Michael B. King, WSBA # 14405 Linda B. Clapham, WSBA # 16735 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is defendant/respondent Lakewood Water District ("LWD").

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

LWD seeks review of the Division II Court of Appeals published decision terminating review, entered on May 31, 2023 ("the decision"). A copy of the decision is attached as App. 1. A copy of the August 25, 2023 Order Denying LWD's timely Motion for Reconsideration is attached as App. 2.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This case presents one issue warranting the Court's review:

How far will Washington extend the duty of a private party to protect against the criminal acts of third parties? In this case, an employee of LWD left his keys in the ignition of an LWD truck while parked on the public right of way in a quiet residential neighborhood with no known criminal activity generally and no known car thefts specifically. The employee

had walked away from the truck for a few minutes while speaking with the subcontractor on the project about the day's work when a neighborhood resident walked down his driveway and across the street, stole the truck and eventually caused injuries to plaintiff Paul Adgar.

Division II held that LWD owed a duty to protect Adgar against the criminal act of the unknown third party by focusing on the public vs. private nature of the roadway where the truck was parked. This decision conflicts with this Court's precedents and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals that clearly consider other factors—especially the nature of the location where the motor vehicle is parked and, critically, whether there is any known criminal activity or any reason to suspect car thefts—before determining whether leaving keys in the ignition of a parked motor vehicle creates a "high degree of risk of harm" and imposing a duty as a matter of law. *See*, *e.g.*, *Kim v. Budget Rent-a-Car*, 143 Wn.2d 190, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001); *Parilla v.* 

*King County*, 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007). Review therefore is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Relevant Factual Background.

LWD employee Sam Bosma had been working in the same Lakewood residential neighborhood a few blocks off of American Lake for more than two months, supervising the project contractor, Pape & Sons, as they installed a new water main. (CP 115-117.) On the morning of February 7, 2018, at approximately 8:00 a.m., Bosma<sup>1</sup> parked an LWD truck on the public right of way in this quiet residential neighborhood behind the Pape & Sons truck and a Conex<sup>2</sup> they were using for storing parts. (CP 98.) The Conex was partially in and partially out of the public right of way. Pape & Sons had permission from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> No disrespect is intended by referring to Paul Adgar, Martin Dinsmore, or Sam Bosma by their last names only. This is how they are referred to in the briefs below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A Conex is "a steel box, basically like you'd see on a ship." (CP 98.)

homeowner to place it where it did. (Id.) As soon as he got out of the truck, Bosma sought out Pape & Sons' foreman to remind him of changes to the day's plan. (CP 99.)

Knowing that conversation would be brief, he left the keys in the truck's ignition. (CP 101.) Bosma, who was working and sober at 8:00 in the morning, is certain that he did not leave the truck running nor the door ajar, but merely left the keys in the ignition. (CP 100.) Dinsmore contends that "Mr. Bosma either left the LWD truck running or left the keys in the LWD truck." (CP 123.)

For most of their approximately seven-minute conversation, Bosma and the Pape & Sons employee stood approximately 20 feet from the truck. (CP 101.) The two then walked further up the road to survey the location of the day's work. (CP 101.) It was during this short walk—from the truck to their vantage point up the road —that Bosma heard a car alarm and turned his head to observe a man trying to get into what appeared to be his own car parked within his own gated

driveway. (CP 102-103.) Bosma observed—but did not *know*—that the man "looked like he was intoxicated." (CP 178.)<sup>3</sup> The man turned out to be Martin Dinsmore. By his own account, Dinsmore was at the top of his driveway which is 400 feet long.<sup>4</sup> (CP 42, 198.)

While Bosma was talking with the Pape & Sons employee, Dinsmore walked out of his gated driveway, crossed the street and to the surprise of the nearby construction workers, stole the LWD work truck. (CP 42, 198-201.) He initially drove in a lawful manner. (CP 42-43, 68.) He drove through his neighborhood traveling within the speed limit. (CP 42-43.) But after stopping at a stop sign and taking a left, Dinsmore made the decision to use the truck to commit suicide. (CP 43, 68.) He

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Notably (i) the toxicology results revealed that no drugs were detected in Dinsmore's blood on the date of the accident. (CP 264-274); (ii) the toxicology reports also showed Dinsmore's blood alcohol content was within legal limits. RP (1/17/20) 25; (CP 203); (iii) and Dinsmore testified that he "wasn't drunk or even remotely drunk when the accident happened...." (CP 194.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As a point of reference, a football field is 360 feet long.

accelerated from approximately 20 m.p.h. to 50 m.p.h. and in his own words, "as soon as [Adgar's car] got in position I swerved to hit him." (CP 43, 141.) Both men survived, though Adgar spent over two weeks in the hospital tending to serious injuries. (CP 243.)

Dinsmore consistently asserted that his decision to accelerate and swerve into Adgar's oncoming car was to commit suicide. (CP 23-24.) That's what he told the officers at the scene of the collision, the doctors at the hospital (CP 60, 65), and the lawyers at his sworn deposition. (CP 50.) He detailed his thought process in his deposition:

And all of a sudden I got this impulsive urge without thinking about what, who or anything might be in this vehicle, the possibilities of hitting that brick wall rather than a vehicle with a car -- or with a person in it, but something impulsively said, "Marty, you've got to end the insanity now." And so I hadn't gotten too far down the road, and I sped up. And I sped up from 20 miles an hour to I don't know what, but it was a considerable increase. And as soon as your client got in position, I swerved in to hit him.

(CP 43.)

The collision forensics corroborate Dinsmore's account. The Event Data Recorder from the truck shows that five seconds before the accident, Dinsmore depressed the accelerator to 100% causing the truck's speed to increase from 25 m.p.h. to 53 m.p.h.; the RPMs accelerated from 4000s to 5000s; and a half-a-second before impact, defendant Dinsmore turned the steering wheel sharply to the left (89%) and purposely drove into plaintiff Adgar's truck. (CP 141-42.)

#### **B.** Relevant Procedural Background.

Dinsmore pled guilty to vehicular assault and theft of an automobile. (CP 73-82.) He served his prison sentence in the Shelton Correctional Facility. (CP 40.)

Adgar sued LWD and Dinsmore. (CP 6-10.) Adgar settled with Dinsmore several months after summary judgment was granted in favor of LWD.

LWD moved for summary judgment on Adgar's sole claim against LWD: negligence. (CP 19-34.) LWD argued that it owed no duty to Adgar and that even if it did, LWD's breach of any duty did not proximately cause Adgar's damages. *Id.* The trial court did not determine whether LWD owed a duty because it ruled that Dinsmore's decision to attempt suicide was a superseding cause and granted summary judgment in favor of LWD. RP (1/17/20) 31; (CP 454-456.) Adgar appealed and Division II rendered its published decision reversing the trial court.<sup>5</sup>

#### v. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

In this "keys in the ignition" case, Division II's published decision has erroneously expanded the duty of a private individual to protect against the criminal acts of third parties by focusing solely on whether a vehicle was parked on a public roadway vs. private property. This is too narrow an application

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Division II determined that summary judgment based on superseding cause was error. LWD is not seeking review of this ruling. If this Court grants review and reverses on the duty issue, the issue of superseding cause will be moot. If this Court denies review, or grants review and affirms, then the issue of superseding cause will be resolved by the jury at trial on remand.

of the many factors to be considered before a Court ever finds an exception to the general rule that there is no duty to prevent third parties from causing criminal harm to others because criminal conduct is generally unforeseeable. *Washburn v. City of Federal Way*, 178 Wn.2d 732, 757, 301 P.3d 1275 (2013).

Dinsmore was nowhere in sight when Bosma parked his truck and left his keys in the ignition. Yet Division II has imposed a duty on Bosma to turn around and return to his truck after seeing an unknown man across the street inside the confines of a private driveway at 8:00 in the morning, who may or may not have been intoxicated. Division II did *not* impose a duty on Bosma to remove his keys from the ignition before exiting his vehicle. Instead, Division II requires someone in Bosma's position to *anticipate* that the person he observed on their own property in a residential neighborhood *might* steal his vehicle (simply because they might be intoxicated), and on that basis return to his vehicle to secure it against that possibility.

This expansion of the duty to act to prevent a crime conflicts with this Court's precedent and with other decisions of the Court of Appeals that clearly consider other factors especially the nature of the location where the motor vehicle is parked and, critically, whether there is any known criminal activity or any reason to suspect a risk of car thefts—before determining that leaving keys in the ignition of a parked motor vehicle creates the high degree of risk of harm that under wellestablished law is the essential precondition to impose a duty to act. The expansion also conflicts with the long-recognized limitations on that duty recognized by the Restatement (Second) of Torts.

A. The Court should grant review to correct the decision's erroneous expansion of the duty to act to prevent the theft of a motor vehicle, which disregards the many decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals requiring that whether such a duty should be recognized requires consideration of the nature and criminal history of the area where the vehicle is parked.

The existence or nonexistence of a duty must be determined by reference to the particular circumstances presented. Here, Division II has imposed a duty to anticipate the criminal acts of a third party—in a quiet residential neighborhood where there is no known criminal activity and no known vehicle thefts—merely by an observation over 400 yards away (longer than a football field) of a man behind the gates of a private driveway who may have appeared to be intoxicated.

The decision strangely concludes that the circumstances presented here "closely mirror the circumstances in *Parilla*." *Parilla v. King County*, 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007). "Strangely" because there is virtually *nothing* similar about the two circumstances. Division II summarized the facts in *Parilla* as follows:

In *Parilla*, an altercation erupted between two passengers on a King County Metro bus as it was travelling on a public right-of-way. The bus driver pulled over to the curb and asked all of the passengers to disembark. All but three of the passengers, Courvoisier Carpenter and the two individuals involved in the altercation, complied with the driver's order. The bus driver exited the bus, leaving the engine running with Carpenter and the two other passengers on board. The two individuals in the altercation left and the driver re-entered the bus asking Carpenter to disembark. Carpenter then began exhibiting bizarre behavior, including acting as if he were talking to somebody outside of the vehicle although nobody was there, yelling unintelligibly, and striking the windows of the bus with his fists.

After observing Carpenter's behavior for several minutes, the driver exited the bus a second time, again leaving the engine running with Carpenter on board. Carpenter moved into the driver's seat of the idling 14–ton bus and drove it down the public right-of-way before crashing into several vehicles, including that of the Parrillas.

Decision at 9-10.

Division II's understanding of *Parilla* is materially incomplete. In *Parilla*, Division I found that King County owed a duty of care to Parilla because the driver acted with *actual* knowledge of conditions which created a *high degree of risk of intentional misconduct*. The bus driver owed a duty because of his affirmative act of exiting the bus while the engine was running (no question of fact about this), leaving a visibly erratic passenger alone on board after that passenger had displayed a clear tendency toward criminal behavior. *Parilla* at 433.

Division I emphasized that where no special relationship is involved, the rule is that there is no duty to anticipate or guard against intentional or criminal misconduct of a third person. An exception to that rule arises where the actor's own affirmative act has created or exposed the other to a *recognizable high degree of risk of harm* which a reasonable man would take into account. This does not mean that any risk of harm gives rise to a duty. Instead, an *unusual risk of harm*, a *high degree risk of harm*, is required. *Parrilla* at 434-435. Division II has ignored this requirement.

Division II concluded *not* that Bosma had a duty to remove his keys from the truck when he first parked on the right of way and exited the truck to talk with the Pape & Sons employee nearby. Instead, Division II has held that Bosma owed a duty *to turn around and walk back to his truck to remove the keys* after

seeing an unknown man over 400 feet away within his own gated driveway in a quiet residential neighborhood with no known history of crime—a neighborhood in which Bosma had been working for the past two months. In reaching this conclusion, Division II failed to acknowledge several critical factors before imposing a duty where one does not otherwise exist. There is no mention in the decision that Bosma had **no** reasonable awareness of a high degree of intentional misconduct, and certainly no reason to anticipate that a resident of this neighborhood would steal the LWD truck. (Indeed, Bosma had never seen Dinsmore before.) The decision also omits that the vehicle was parked in a quiet Lakewood residential neighborhood, with no known history of crime.

The decision acknowledges that Washington courts follow the Restatement (Second) of Torts 302B, Comment *e* (1965), but the decision fails to correctly apply its meaning. Comment *e* explains that there may be a duty to guard against third party conduct where the actor's own affirmative act has created or exposed another person to a recognizable high degree of risk of harm which a reasonable person would take into account. "This does not mean that any risk of harm gives rise to a duty. Instead, an unusual risk of harm, a "high degree of risk of harm" is required." Kim v. Budget Rent-a-Car, 143 Wn.2d 190, 196, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001)(emphasis in original)(There is nothing in the facts of this case indicating that a *high degree* of risk of harm to plaintiff was created by Budget's conduct of leaving the keys in the ignition of an automobile in an area where Budget had never had a prior vehicle theft.); Parilla v. King County, 138 Wn.App. 427, 434-435, 157 P.3d 879 (2007)(A reasonable person in bus driver's position would know that exiting the bus while the engine was running and leaving a visibly erratic passenger alone on board would constitute a high degree of risk of exposing others to harm). Division II finds a high degree of risk under the circumstances by focusing on whether the vehicle is parked on a

public road or on private property while ignoring the impact of other, far more apt factors.<sup>6</sup>

# **B.** Comment *d* to the Restatement is more applicable to the circumstances of the present case, and application of Comment *d* should compel dismissal of Adgar's claim against LWD.

Comment d is far more relevant to these circumstances

than is comment *e* to the Restatement (Second) of Torts §302(B)

(1965).

*d*. Normally the actor has much less reason to anticipate intentional misconduct than he has to anticipate negligence. In the ordinary case he may reasonably proceed upon the assumption that others will not interfere in a manner intended to cause harm to anyone. This is true particularly where the intentional conduct is a crime, since under ordinary circumstances it may reasonably be assumed that no one will violate the criminal law. Even where there is a recognizable possibility of the intentional interference, the possibility may be so slight, or there may be so slight a risk of foreseeable harm to another as a result of the interference, that a reasonable man in the position of the actor would disregard it.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Sailor v. Ohlde, 71 Wn.2d 646, 430 P.2d 591 (1967) (no liability for vehicle owner where truck parked on private property and no other factors present to put owner on reasonable notice of high degree of risk of exposing others to harm).

See Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs., 116 Wn. 2d 217, 230,

802 P.2d 1360, 1367 (1991)(Comment d explains that a defendant has much less reason to anticipate intentional misconduct on the part of a third party than he has to anticipate negligence on the part of a third party. In general, comment d continues, the defendant may proceed upon the assumption that others will obey the law.); *Lauritzen v. Lauritzen*, 74 Wn. App. 432, 443, 874 P.2d 861, 867 (1994)(vehicle did not present a special temptation to criminals simply because it sat in the parking lot of a convenience store. Comment d of § 302B explains that a defendant may "proceed upon the assumption that others will obey the law".).

The point is made crystal clear by illustration 2 to comment *d*:

2. A leaves his automobile unlocked, with the key in the ignition switch, while he steps into a drugstore to buy a pack of cigarettes. The time is noon, the neighborhood peaceable and respectable, and no suspicious persons are about. **B**, a thief, steals the car while **A** is in the drugstore, and in his haste to get away drives it in a negligent manner and injures **C**. **A** is not negligent toward **C**.

The focus of comment d thus is **not** whether the automobile is parked on a public roadway or on private property. Instead, the focus is on what factors would influence a reasonable person to remove the keys such as: day vs. night, character of the neighborhood, and lack of any prior criminal activity. See, e.g., Cwiklinski v. Jennings, 267 Ill. App. 3d 598, 204 Ill. Dec. 491, 641 N.E.2d 921 (1st Dist. 1994)(In order to impose a duty upon a car owner to prevent its unauthorized use by a thief, it is insufficient to allege simply that the owner left the car keys easily accessible to a thief without alleging any other special circumstance giving the owner reason to believe that there was an unreasonable risk that the car would be stolen.); Simmons v. Flores, 838 S.W.2d 287 (Tex. App. Texarkana 1992), writ denied, (Jan. 20, 1993)(Evidence that may justify a finding of negligence and foreseeability is that the public place was in a high crime area or had been the site of thefts or similar crimes in the past or was a place relatively unprotected and susceptible to criminal acts.); Hensler v. Renn, 166 Ill. App. 3d 819, 117 Ill.

Dec. 759, 520 N.E.2d 1110 (5th Dist. 1988)(No duty to remove keys from the ignition of truck left in a convenience store parking where thief stole the truck and crashed into plaintiff causing personal injuries because plaintiff *failed to state special circumstances, such as a high-crime area.*).

Here, there is nothing about the circumstances—even when viewed in a light most favorable to Adgar—that should have moved Bosma to remove the keys from the ignition when exiting his vehicle. According to Division II, the facts here were sufficient to impose a duty on Bosma: that upon seeing an unknown man across the street within his own 400 foot long gated driveway at 8:00 in the morning on a quiet residential street with no known criminal activity or car thefts and where he had been working for over two months with no auto thefts or criminal activity, Bosma nonetheless had a duty to anticipate Dinsmore's criminal activity and therefore turn around and walk back to his truck to remove the keys. But the Restatement does not support this result. This conclusion, moreover, is underscored by the

cases that recognize no duty to remove keys from the ignition for vehicles left on a public street when the street is in a residential area. *See*, *e.g.*, *Consiglio v. Ahern*, 5 Conn.Cir.Ct. 304, 251 A.2d 91 (Conn. App. 1968); *Nolan v. Bacon*, 100 R.I. 360, 216 A.2d 126 (RI 1966); *Meihost v Meihost*, 29 Wis.2d 537, 139 NW2d 116 (Wis. 1966); *Saracco v. Lyttle*, 11 N.J. Super 254, 78 A.2d 288 (N. Jersey 1951).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

For all of the reasons discussed above, LWD respectfully requests that the Court grant review under RAP 13.4 in order to protect the Court's own decisions on the scope of a duty owed to protect against the criminal acts of third parties. This document contains 3,661words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.