FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/23/2023 1:04 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102414-2

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PAUL ADGAR,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

MARTIN A. DINSMORE and "JANE DOE" DINSMORE, husband and wife, and their marital community composed thereof, and LAKEWOOD WATER DISTRICT,

Defendants/Respondents.

PAUL ADGAR'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark E. Koontz, WSBA #26212 Attorney for Paul Adgar

MORGAN & KOONTZ, PLLC

2501 N. Alder Street Tacoma, WA 98406 (253) 761-4444

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LWD's Factual Errors

LWD states two important factual errors in its Petition for Review.

First, LWD states that Mr. Bosma had never seen Mr. Dinsmore before the date of the collision. Petition for Review at 14. That is incorrect. On February 6, 2018, the day prior to the collision, an employee of a soil compaction contractor at the Forrest Road/Rose Road job site was approached by Mr. Dinsmore. CP 179-184 (80:4-85:11). Mr. Dinsmore offered the worker \$50 if he would give Mr. Dinsmore a ride to the store to get some more alcohol. CP 183 (84:3-7). The worker declined. CP 183 (84:8-11). That same day, February 6, 2018, the worker told Mr. Bosma about his interaction with Mr. Dinsmore. CP 183 (84:15-17). Later that day, Mr. Bosma saw Mr. Dinsmore walking, apparently returning from the store. CP 183 (84:23-85:4). Mr. Bosma thought Mr. Dinsmore's encounter with the worker was "strange." CP 184 (85:9-11).

Second, LWD characterizes this case as a "keys in the ignition" case, and erroneously states that Mr. Bosma simply left his keys in the ignition of the LWD truck. Petition for Review at 4, 8. In fact, Mr. Dinsmore testified that the LWD truck was

unattended with the engine running and the driver's door open while the LWD truck was out of Mr. Bosma's sight. CP 198-199 (67:2-68:11). As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, for purposes of LWD's motion for summary judgment and this appeal, the facts are taken in the light most favorable to Mr. Adgar, the non-moving party. Court of Appeals Decision at 3.

Brief Statement of Facts

On February 7, 2018, Mr. Bosma, while on duty for the LWD, was driving a 2016 Ford F250 Pickup owned by LWD to a site in Lakewood, Washington. CP 169 (29:7-18), CP 170 (36:11-24). Mr. Bosma proceeded to park the LWD truck on the public right of way, exit the vehicle and walk away from the truck to meet with an LWD contractor. CP 172 (41:23-42:12). Mr. Bosma left the LWD truck unattended, and out his sight, with the engine running and the driver's door open. CP 198-199 (67:2-68:11).

As Mr. Bosma was walking away from the truck, he saw Mr. Dinsmore acting erratically. CP 177 (65:16-66:15). Mr.

Bosma testified that Mr. Dinsmore appeared to be intoxicated, trying to get into a vehicle, setting off the car alarm and stumbling back from the vehicle after he tried to open the door to the vehicle. CP 178 (66:3-15). After this observation, Mr. Bosma then walked down the street approximately 200 feet where he met the contractor with the LWD truck out of Mr. Bosma's sight. CP 173 (43:18-45:4); CP 176 (56:9-12); CP 233.

While Mr. Bosma was talking to the contractor, Mr. Dinsmore walked over to the LWD truck, got in the truck and drove away. CP 198-200 (67:13-69:25); CP 201 (83:8-21). He drove the LWD truck northeast on Portland Avenue SW near the 15200 block in Lakewood, Washington. *Id.* Plaintiff Paul Adgar was heading to work in his 1999 Dodge Dakota Pickup and driving southwest on Portland Avenue SW near the 15200 block in Lakewood, Washington. CP 242 (1:19-21). Mr. Dinsmore swerved into the southwest-bound lane and struck Mr. Adgar's vehicle head-on moments after stealing the LWD truck. CP 242-243 (1:21-2:2); CP 246; CP 235-237.

Mr. Adgar sustained serious injuries, requiring multiple surgeries and spending over two weeks at Madigan Army Medical Center. CP 243.

LWD's General Manager, Randall Black, testified that at the time of the incident, LWD's employees were required to take the keys out of the ignition and lock the doors when the vehicle is out of the employee's sight: "[I]f the vehicle was going to be out of the employees' sight or wasn't able to get back to that vehicle in a reasonable amount of time, they needed to secure those vehicles, the vehicles." CP 210-211 (11:20-12:2). After the collision, Mr. Black issued a Memorandum to all LWD staff stating "Effective immediately, keys to District vehicles are not to be left in the vehicle unattended. Further, no District vehicle is to be left running unattended". CP 209-210 (10:12-11:9); CP 215.

Plaintiff's water utility district expert, Daniel Kimbler, testified that LWD and Mr. Bosma failed to meet industry standards. CP 240 (3:8-11). He has also testified that Mr.

Bosma's conduct in leaving an LWD truck unattended in a public right of way, with the engine running and the door open, fell below the standard of care for water utility inspectors. CP 240 (3:8-11). He testified that there was no utility or benefit for Mr. Bosma leaving a utility vehicle in the public right of way, unattended, with the engine running or keys in the ignition. CP 239 (2:21-3:1). He further testified that one reason for properly securing a utility vehicle parked in a right of way is to prevent someone stealing the vehicle and causing damage to the vehicle or injuring people. CP 240 (3:1-2).

Procedural History

At the trial court, LWD moved for summary judgment, arguing that LWD did not owe a duty and that if it did, LWD's breach of its duty did not proximately cause Plaintiff's damages. CP 20:8-10. The trial court judge held a hearing on December 6, 2019 and heard oral argument from Plaintiff and LWD. RP (12-6-19) 1. At the conclusion of the hearing, the trial court judge found that the issue of duty should go to the jury. RP (12-6-19)

30:25-31:5. However, the trial court judge continued the hearing because he could not decide the issue of proximate cause and requested additional briefing from the parties on the specific issue of whether Mr. Dinsmore's conduct - specifically his attempted suicide – was a superseding cause such that there is no proximate cause as a matter of law. RP (12-6-19) 30:25-31:15, CP 276. The trial court judge ultimately held that as a matter of law LWD's breach of its duty was not a proximate cause of Plaintiff's injuries and granted LWD's motion for summary judgment dismissing Plaintiff's claims against LWD. RP (1-17-20) at 31:15-17; CP 454-456. The trial court held that Mr. Dinsmore's act of attempted suicide was a superseding act such that there was no proximate cause as a matter of law. RP (1-17-20) 31:20-32:6, CP 456.

The Court of Appeal addressed the issues of duty and proximate cause and reversed the trial court's order granting LWD's motion for summary judgment and remanded the case to the trial court. Petition for Review, Appendix 1. LWD does not

raise the proximate cause issue as an issue for review by the Supreme Court.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review

LWD appears to argue that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision or a published Court of Appeals decision. RAP 13.4(b). However, LWD does not cite any holding in a Supreme Court of Court of Appeals case that is in conflict with Court of Appeals decision. LWD's only basis for the Supreme Court's acceptance of review is that the Court of Appeals "focus[ed] on the public vs. private nature of the roadway where the truck was parked." Petition for Review at 8. This is incorrect. The Court of Appeals examined all of the circumstances and merely noted that "we are not holding that the duty extends to a car running in one's own driveway or garage." Decision at 11. This is the Court of Appeals' only reference to a "private" roadway in the Court of Appeals analysis related to duty.

B. The Court of Appeals followed the holdings of *Kim* and *Parrilla* regarding the duty owed by LWD.

LWD does not identify a specific holding of any Washington Supreme Court or Court of Appeals case that is in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in the case at bar. In fact, the Court of Appeals followed the analysis set forth in *Kim v. Budget Rent A Car Sys.*, 143 Wn.2d 190, 15 P.3d 1283 (2001) and *Parrilla v. King County*, 138 Wn.App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007).

The Court of Appeals followed the rule set forth in *Kim*:

"An act or an omission may be negligent if the actor realizes or should realize that it involves an unreasonable risk of harm to another through the conduct of the other or a third person which is intended to cause harm, even though such conduct is criminal."

Court of Appeals Decision at 8, quoting *Kim*, 143 Wn.2d at 196 (quoting RESTATEMENT (SECOND) § 302B).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals accurately stated the factors to consider set forth in *Parrilla*:

It is not possible to state definite rules as to when the actor is required to take precautions against intentional or criminal misconduct. As in other cases of negligence, it is a matter of balancing the magnitude of the risk against the utility of the actor's conduct. Factors to be considered are the known character, past conduct, and tendencies of the person whose intentional conduct causes the harm, the temptation or opportunity which the situation may afford him for such misconduct, the gravity of the harm which may result, and the possibility that some other person will assume the responsibility for preventing the conduct or the harm, together with the burden of the precautions which the actor would be required to take.

Court of Appeals decision at 9, citing *Parrilla* at 434, (alterations in original) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts § 302 B cmt. f).

The Court of Appeals did not "focus" on the public nature of the roadway, as LWD states. The Court of Appeals focused on Mr. Bosma's observations of Mr. Dinsmore's character, past conduct, and tendencies — on the day of the incident and the day prior — the opportunity Mr. Bosma provided Mr. Dinsmore by leaving the LWD's truck unattended with the engine running with and the door open, and the gravity of the harm that could result

from Mr. Bosma's actions. This is precisely the analysis required under *Kim* and *Parrilla*.

The Court of Appeals held:

Here, Bosma saw an intoxicated person in close proximity to his truck attempting and failing to get into another vehicle. It was foreseeable that such a person might attempt to get into and drive the LWD truck if the truck was left running with the door open and unattended. Doing so created a high degree of risk that was foreseeable for purposes of establishing a duty on the part of LWD. Therefore, under the specific facts of this case, Bosma owed a duty not to leave the truck running and unattended with the door open.

Court of Appeals Decision at 11.

The Court of Appeals also noted that the determination on the scope of this duty is left the jury:

Even though we conclude that LWD owed a duty to Adgar here, we do not reach the issue of whether the scope of the duty extends to these facts. As recognized by our Supreme Court, while

[t]he first inquiry . . . is whether a duty to protect against third party criminal conduct is owed at all. The second inquiry . . . , foreseeability of harm as a limit on the scope of the duty, considers whether the harm sustained is reasonably perceived as being within the

general field of danger covered by the duty owed by the defendant. . . . In this way, foreseeability plays a role in both the legal and factual inquiries regarding duty and its scope.

McKown v. Simon Prop. Grp., Inc., 182 Wn.2d 752, 764, 344 P.3d 661 (2015) (internal citations omitted). This latter question is a question of fact for the jury. Id.

Court of Appeals Decision at 11.

LWD repeatedly states that Court of Appeals focused on the public vs. private roadway. That is simply wrong. The Court of Appeals focused on the factors identified in *Kim* and *Parrilla* – Mr. Bosma's observations of Mr. Dinsmore's erratic behavior, the opportunity Mr. Bosma created by leaving the LWD truck unattended with the engine running and the front door open, and the significant risk of harm created by Mr. Bosma's conduct.

VI. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with a Washington Supreme Court or Court of Appeals case. The Court of Appeals followed the analysis set forth in *Kim* and *Parrilla*. The Supreme Court should deny the Petition for Review.

This document contains 2,158 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 23^{rd} day of October, 2023.

MORGAN & KOONTZ, PLLC

y: <u>M/h</u>

Mark E. Koontz, WSBA #26212 Attorney for Plaintiff Paul Adgar